THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
D. Garrsion Hill, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 06 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Case No.: 2013-GS-23-003231; 003232; 003233; 003234; 003235; 003236
Appellate Case No.: 2015-000312

The State, Respondent,
vs.
Jerald Denton Gaskins, Jr., Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
(864) 271-6035 facsimile
jfalknerwilkes@gmail.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DOES THE ADMISSION OF PRIOR BAD ACTS UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR?
- II. DID THE SOLICITOR'S QUESTIONING OF THE DEFENDANT CONCERNING INFLAMMATORY TEXT MESSAGES WITHOUT A PROPER FOUNDATION CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR?
- III. SHOULD THE COURT'S ANALYSIS OF THE RECORD AS A WHOLE IN A HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS INCLUDE PREJUDICE ARISING OUT OF ISSUES APPEARING IN THE RECORD BUT NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the grand jury in Greenville County for three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree, and three counts of lewd act upon a minor. A jury trial was held on February 4th and 5th, 2015, the Honorable D. Garrison Hill presiding. Kristie B. Hodge, Assistant Solicitor, represented the State at trial. Randall L. Chambers, of Greenville, represented the Appellant at trial. The Appellant was found guilty on all counts and sentenced to four 20 year sentences, one 15 year sentence, all of which were concurrent, and to one 5 year sentence which was consecutive, with the provision that the 5 year sentence was to be served first. Timely notice of appeal was served. J. Falkner Wilkes represents the Appellant on the appeal of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The defendant was accused of having a sexual relationship over the course of a year and a half with the prosecutrix (N.M.) while she was 13 to 14 years of age. 192-197. The defendant denied the allegations. 421, l. 24-422, l. 1. At the beginning of the trial, outside the presence of the jury, the state declared an intent to offer the testimony of H.B. as evidence of other bad acts under Rule 404(B). 240-242. The state argued admissibility under the common plan or scheme exception: "We're saying that he operates in the same manner. Good, bad, or indifferent, we're not saying. But we're saying that he operates consistently the same way, targeting young girls, schmoozing, talking big, talking good, talking them into having sex with them." T. p. 263, l. 9-15. The defendant denied the allegations involving the state's 404(B) witness. 421, l. 19-23.

The state claimed that the events involving the 404(B) witness were factually similar to those involving the prosecutrix: "They were 13, eighth grade, met at horseshoes, had sex at the Defendant's residence, went to the abandoned house and had sex. And the Defendant used a condom. It was vaginal-penile penetration." 242, l. 21-25. The state argued that the 404(B) evidence established a *modus operandi*. 261-262. The defense argued that the similarities were merely generic and that the two were distinctly dissimilar. 242-258. Contrary to the

state's argument, the facts fail to show that the 404(B) evidence established a *modus operandi* or otherwise sufficiently similar to allow its admission.

The 404(b) Evidence:

H.B. testified that she met the defendant in the spring of 2011 at the prosecutrix's house. 247. That the first time she met the defendant they went outside to the defendant's car and started talking. 248. While sitting in the car talking they exchanged phone numbers. 248. She said that their first conversation in the car "immediately" became flirtatious. 248. About a month later during a cookout at the defendant's house she and the defendant went into a back room and immediately started kissing for twenty or thirty minutes. 249-250; 312. She characterized a relationship of *mutual interest*, stating that the next time they were together "we just started flirting again." 250, l. 24-25. She testified that one thing led to another and they had sex again. 250-251. H.B. testified that she was a "very" willing participant, and that she put forth her efforts into making it happen. 252, l. 14-16; 315. She claimed to have had sex with the defendant three times. 254.

The essence of the state's case as to the indicted offenses was that the defendant established a sexual relationship with the prosecutrix through the manipulation of her and her family over an extended period of time. The

evidence showed that the defendant and his family were close friends with the prosecutrix and her family. 64. The defendant's family would often go to the prosecutrix's house. 136. They had contact for over a year and half. 137. They were together as families at times on a daily basis. 83. The mother of the prosecutrix testified that the defendant was generous and gave them money to help out with their bills. 71. The prosecutrix claimed that the defendant helped her parents with their bills, including their car insurance, "to blind them away from what was happening." 288, l. 8-10.

H.B. lived with her grandparents. 255. Unlike the long established relationship that existed between the prosecutrix's family and the defendant's family, there was no evidence that the grandparents even knew the defendant, much less were friends or ever had any contact with him. 255. Also unlike the claims of almost constant contact between the prosecutrix and defendant, the contact between the defendant and H.B. was limited to communicating "over Facebook occasionally." 250, l. 16. By her own testimony H.B. was a very willing participant and that she actually worked at making "it" happen. H.B.'s testimony is distinctly different than the testimony of the prosecutrix and the state's theory that the defendant heavily manipulated the prosecutrix and her family to establish a sexual relationship.

While H.B. had little contact with the defendant's family, the prosecutrix essentially lived at the defendant's for an extended period of time. The prosecutrix would come over to the defendant's house two or more times a week while the defendant's wife was there. 139. She spent nights at the defendant's house. 138. She was at the defendant's house close to every weekend. 203. This continued into 2011 when the defendant moved to Magnolia Trailer Park where she was given a bedroom. 140. During that time the defendant's wife helped the prosecutrix with her homework and she helped the wife with the defendant's daughter, Skyland. 140. The prosecutrix also went places with the defendant's family such as bowling and to the movies. 141. She continued to come to the defendant's house even when the defendant and his family moved to Central, and later to Traveler's Rest in 2012. 145; 150-151. There is no evidence that the defendant and the 404(B) witness had similar contact with the defendant and his family.

The alleged sexual contact also differed greatly between H.B. and the prosecutrix. The defendant's wife testified that one night she found the defendant and the prosecutrix on the couch together. 148. The prosecutrix testified that the defendant had sex with her at his house while his wife was in the shower, and then went back to playing games and watching TV like nothing

had happened and ended up spending the night. 192-196. She also testified that while in Central she had sex with the defendant at his house while his wife was at the hospital. 205. They had sex, including oral sex, again at the house while the wife was asleep. 207. The prosecutrix claimed that she and the defendant had sex at different locations in different rooms. 199-200. She also testified that sometimes it was "full" sex and sometimes oral sex. 200. She testified that they had sex, including oral sex, in the defendant's car. 202. The prosecutrix testified that they continued to have sex everywhere the defendant moved. 198. These events are significantly dissimilar to those alleged by the 404(B) witness.

The prosecutrix also testified that she continued to have sex with the defendant because he had a short temper and in the back of her mind she didn't want to get yelled at. 213. These facts are also dissimilar to the 404(B) testimony.

The nature of the defendant's normal daily contact between the prosecutrix and the 404(B) witness is also hugely dissimilar. The prosecutrix testified that the defendant went to her school events, like volleyball tournaments or practices. 138. According to the defendant's wife the defendant had constant contact with the prosecutrix through text messages or calls to the prosecutrix. 137. When the prosecutrix had her phone cut off for going over her minutes on her parent's data plan, the defendant bought her a cell phone on his plan. 73. When that cell phone

was taken away due to poor grades, she testified that the defendant secretly provided another cell phone. 74. In contrast to the constant contact alleged by the prosecutrix, the 404(B) witness testified that she only had occasional contact with the defendant through Facebook. The dissimilarities clearly far outnumber any generic similarities between the testimony of the prosecutrix and the 404(B) witness.

In addition to the stated 404(B) evidence the solicitor repeatedly raised other evidence of bad acts or bad character throughout the trial. The solicitor asked the defendant on cross-examination about Jennifer Anglin's daughter T. W. 444. Despite not being the subject of direct examination the solicitor went into a line of questioning involving T. W. The solicitor's questions clearly implied that the Defendant was making some improper contact with T. W. using an assumed name. 445. The solicitor offered no proof to substantiate the allegations that were the subject of her questions. 446.¹ The solicitor then went on to question the defendant about the existence of a no contact bond with his fiancé Angelina Campbell. 446. The solicitor asked if the no contact provision was a condition of his bond. 446. The solicitor made a point to inform the jury, under the guise of

¹The solicitor discussed T. W. and the defendant's cousin (H.G.) at sentencing claiming "that law enforcement has received a complaint on that he was doing the same type of things, attempting to engage this child." 514, l. 5-11.

asking the defendant a question, that the defendant had an active charge against him:

Q: All right. So are you, currently, engaged right now?

A: Yes, I am.

Q: To whom?

A: Angelina Campbell.

Q: Is she in court today.

A: Yes, she is.

Q: Isn't there a no-contact order between you and Angelina?

A: There was.

Q: No. There is, isn't there?

A: I'm not sure. It's --

Q: As a condition of your bond, you're not supposed to have contact with her; isn't that correct?

A: No, it's not correct. It was supposed to have been dissolved.

Q: Sir, you have an active charge with her; correct?

A: Ma'am, once again, it was supposed to be dissolved.

Q: Sir, you have an active charge with her, do you not?

A: I don't know if I do or not, ma'am. But, once again, it was supposed to

have been dissolved.

Q: Am I your prosecutor on that case?

A: I don't know if you are or not - -

Q: Have you not called me numerous times asking me - -

A: No, ma'am, I have not. No. There was a letter sent to you, an affidavit filled out for you.

Q: And have you been instructed by our office that that case is not dropped and you are not to have contact with her?

A: Ma'am, I was once told it was dismissed. So I don't know what's going on with it - -

Q: Who were you told that by?

A: I guess your office.

Q: No, sir. No one from my office - -

445, l. 22-447, l. 4.

The solicitor went on to make the point again:

Q: But do you have an active charge with her? 447, l. 12.

There was never any evidence offered as to the alleged charge or no contact order to make it admissible or the proper subject of questioning before the jury.

The solicitor again attempted to bring up other bad acts evidence on cross of the defendant asking him about an *incident* with his cousin H.G. 456. The state never offered any evidence to establish the admissibility of the any "incident" involving the defendant's cousin under Lyle and Rule 404(B).

The state elicited testimony from the investigating officer that he left his card for the defendant so the defendant could tell him his side of the story but that "He never contacted me." 354, l. 4-5. The solicitor went on to follow up that giving the defendant an opportunity to talk with the officer was something he normally did. 354, l. 10-11.

The solicitor asked the defendant on cross if he was supplementing his disability income by selling pot or pills. 442. There was no attempt by the state to establish any basis for the question under 404(B) or other any rule. 442.

In closing the state characterized the defendant as a pack of lions preying on a baby. 487-488. The state then repeatedly made personal representations to the jury in closing argument: I think the defendant has personal self-worth issues. 488. Vouching for the 404(B) witness H.B: "I think she was very, very humble when she took the stand." 488, l. Vouching for the prosecutrix: "I think she really like[d] him. And I think that is what's embarrassing right now, too, is that she, actually, fell for that." 490. I think she liked being around him." 491. "Because I

think what he told her and what she thought was that one day, they were going to run off together." 491. "So, yeah, maybe her testimony wasn't exactly as we would have like it to be, quite as humble, and as open, and honest as [H.B.'s], but it wasn't a lie." 490, l. 8-10.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Thus, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*

I. THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS UNDER STATE V. LYLE, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), AND RULE 404(B), SCRE.

In this case the Appellant is charged with multiple counts of criminal sexual conduct and lewd act involving a single individual N.M., the prosecutrix in this case. Over the defense's objection the state introduced evidence of other bad acts with a second individual, H.B., who was about the same age as the prosecutrix. Over the defense objection, the testimony of H.B. was allowed as other bad act evidence under the common plan or scheme exception to Lyle and Rule 404. This was error.

Generally, "evidence of other distinct crimes committed by the accused may not be adduced merely to raise an inference or to corroborate the prosecution's theory of the defendant's guilt of the particular crime charged." Lyle, 125 S.C. at 415, 118 S.E. at 807. However, there are certain well-established exceptions to this general rule:

[E]vidence of other crimes is competent to prove the specific crime charged when it tends to establish, (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) the absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the others; (5) the identity of the person charged with the commission of the crime on trial. Lyle, 125 S.C. at 415, 118 S.E. at 807; Rule 404(b), SCRE ("Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent."). State v. Fonseca, 681 S.E.2d 1, 383 S.C. 640 (S.C. App., 2009).

Motive was not made a material issue at trial and the occurrence of physical contact was denied by the defendant. The introduction of the prior bad act is therefore unsupported under the motive and intent exceptions provided in Lyle and Rule 404. State v. Fonseca, 681 S.E.2d 1, 383 S.C. 640 (S.C. App., 2009). Likewise, neither mistake, accident nor identity were at issue in the trial. The introduction of the prior bad act evidence is therefore equally unsupported by related exceptions under Lyle or Rule 404. Common plan or scheme was the only exception argued by the state as its basis for the admission of the Rule 404

evidence.

Common Plan or Scheme

[E]vidence of other crimes is competent to prove the specific crime charged when it tends to establish a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the others. Lyle; Rule 404(B). "When determining whether evidence is admissible as [a] common scheme or plan [under Rule 404(b)], the [circuit] court must analyze the similarities and dissimilarities between the crime charged and the bad act evidence to determine whether there is a close degree of similarity." Wallace, 384 S.C. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 277-78. "A close degree of similarity exists when the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities." State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 500, 748 S.E.2d 236, 242 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Wallace, 384 S.C. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 278).

"The common scheme or plan exception 'is generally applied in cases involving sexual crimes, where evidence of acts prior and subsequent to the act charged ... is held admissible as tending to show continued illicit intercourse between the same parties.'" Kirton, 381 S.C. at 10, 671 S.E.2d at 117 citing State v. Whitener, 228 S.C. 244, 265, 89 S.E.2d 701, 711 (1955). Here the other bad act evidence is not between the same parties, instead it involves a third party, H.B.,

and is alleged to have occurred prior to the offenses charged. Other than the occurrence of sex, the alleged offenses and the other bad act evidence bear little material resemblance.

Due to the lack of substantial similarities in this case between the testimony of the prosecutrix and the 404(B) witness, the probative value of the other bad act evidence is slight. *See State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 9, 671 S.E.2d 107, 117 (Ct.App.2008) (holding a common scheme or plan requires similarity between the prior act and the charged act that increases the probative value of the evidence); *State v. Aiken*, 322 S.C. 177, 180, 470 S.E.2d 404, 406 (Ct.App.1996) (noting the more similar the prior act is to the charged act, the more likely the evidence will be admissible); *State v. McClellan*, 283 S.C. 389, 392, 323 S.E.2d 772, 774 (1984) (finding prior bad acts are admissible when close similarity between the acts enhances the probative value of the evidence so as to outweigh the prejudice).

In this case there are no more than generic similarities between the offenses for which the defendant was charged and those alleged by the 404(B) witness. The connection between the prior bad act and the crime must be more than just a general similarity. *State v. Timmons*, 327 S.C. 48, 488 S.E.2d 323 (1997); *State v. Mathis*, 359 S.C. 450, 597 S.E.2d 872 (Ct.App.2004); *State v. Stokes*, 279 S.C. 191,

193, 304 S.E.2d 814, 815 (1983). Generic similarities fail to meet the standard necessary for admissibility. A *close degree of similarity* or connection between the prior bad act and the crime for which the defendant is on trial is required to support admissibility under the common scheme or plan exception. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 546, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001); State v. Ford, 334 S.C. 444, 513 S.E.2d 385 (Ct.App.1999) *emphasis added*.

The prior bad acts alleged through the testimony of H.B. fail to establish any common scheme or plan, much less raise to the level of *modus operandi* as argued by the state. "Clear and convincing evidence of prior crimes or bad acts that is logically relevant is ... admissible to prove ... a common scheme or plan that embraces several previous crimes so closely related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other." State v. Moultrie, 316 S.C. 547, 554, 451 S.E.2d 34, 39 (Ct.App.1994). Here, the prior bad acts fail to do more than establish evidence of propensity and bad character, which is clearly impermissible: "It is well established that evidence of other crimes or prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad individual." State v. Johnson, 293 S.C. 321, 360 S.E.2d 317 (1987); *see also* State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 536 S.E.2d 679 (2000) (finding that evidence of prior crimes or bad acts is inadmissible to prove bad character of defendant or that he acted in conformity

therewith).

In Fonseca the court rejected the State's argument that two incidents that occurred in Fonseca's marital home while his wife was in the other room, demonstrated that the Fonseca had a common scheme or plan to attack the victim while his wife was not present or was in the other room. Fonseca, which was adopted by the supreme court as well reasoned², appeared to be the first sign of a slowing of the Wallace juggernaut. Despite the court's ruling in Fonseca, the rule of Lyle and 404 against the use of propensity evidence has continued to be eroded, virtually to the point of non-existence in criminal sexual abuse cases, especially those involving minors. As pointed out by the dissent in Wallace:

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