**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2015-000312

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN 09 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JERALD DENTON GASKINS, JR.,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

committed no error by permitting the solicitor to question Appellant about the text messages he allegedly sent to Victim's family members because – just as defense counsel conceded during trial – it was permissible for the solicitor to question Appellant about the text messages in light of the fact she had a good faith factual basis for doing so based on the information available to her at that time. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

#### **A. Issue Preservation**

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). Imposing issue preservation requirements on a party “is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

However, even if a party properly objects to an issue that arises during trial, no issue is preserved for appellate review if the trial judge sustains the party's objection and the party does subsequently move to strike the allegedly objectionable matter or request some curative measure from the trial judge. State v. Wingo, 304 S.C. 173, 177-178, 403 S.E.2d 322, 325 (Ct. App. 1991); see State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 129, 551 S.E.2d 240, 248 (2001) (“The requirement that a party move to strike objectionable testimony applies when an objection has been *sustained*.”). Critically, if party fails to request additional relief after an objection is sustained, that party has obtained the only relief sought while preserving no issue for appellate review. See State v.

Thompson, 304 S.C. 85, 87, 403 S.E.2d 139, 140 (Ct. App. 1991) (“[T]he trial judge sustained defense counsel’s objections to the testimony of which [Thompson] complains. No motion to strike, no request for instruction that the jury disregard the testimony, nor a motion for a new trial based on the admission of the testimony was made at trial. Appellant has failed to preserve this issue. He obtained the only relief he sought and this court, therefore, has no issue to decide.”).

Similarly, even if a party properly raises an objection during trial and the objection is overruled, a party may still waive his right to argue error in regard to that objection on appeal under certain circumstances. See State v. O’Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). Significantly, a party can waive an objection to an issue by indicating to the trial judge the party no longer has an objection to an issue the party previously objected to or by eliciting similar testimony to testimony to which the party previously raised an objection without reserving that earlier objection. See State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 571, 190 S.E.2d 30, 30 (1972) (“During the course of the trial certain testimony was admitted over the objection of [McKinney’s] counsel. Thereafter, counsel for [McKinney] cross-examined the witness thereabout without reserving the objection previously made. The objection was thereby lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony it was cured.”); O’Neal, 210 S.C. at 312, 42 S.E.2d at 526 (“An objection to the admission of evidence is waived where the same or similar evidence has been elicited by the objector.”); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no

objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”). Likewise, a party can waive a previously-raised objection to an issue by subsequently conceding that issue to the trial judge. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (recognizing an issue conceded during trial cannot subsequently be argued on appeal).

In the case at bar, the trial judge sustained several objections to questions the solicitor asked of Appellant on cross-examination after presenting him with a physical copy of text messages, and, following the trial judge’s rulings sustaining defense counsel’s objections, defense counsel did **not** seek any further relief from the trial judge or ask the trial judge to employ any curative measures. Thereafter, the trial judge and the parties discussed the matter outside of the presence of the jury, and, during that discussion, the trial judge afforded defense counsel an opportunity to identify any authority that would prohibit the solicitor from questioning Appellant about statements he was purported to have made against his own interests. In response, defense counsel conceded the solicitor **could**, in fact, ask Appellant if he made a particular statement while specifically asserting his issue was **not** with the solicitor’s act of asking the questions. The trial judge then indicated he believed it was permissible for the solicitor to question Appellant about statements he was alleged to have made, and defense counsel responded unequivocally he agreed with the trial judge’s position.

Because defense counsel conceded to the trial judge it was permissible for the solicitor to question Appellant about the statements he was alleged to have made, any issue regarding the propriety of the solicitor’s questioning of Appellant was waived and cannot now properly be raised or addressed on appeal. See id. at 315-316, 642 S.E.2d at 588 (recognizing an issue conceded during trial cannot properly be argued on appeal); see also Ex parte McMillan, 319 S.C. 331, 335, 461 S.E.2d 43, 45 (1995) (finding a party cannot acquiesce to a ruling on an issue

during trial and then complain of an error with the issue on appeal); cf. State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding Rios waived his right to allege error with a jury charge on appeal where the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the instructions given and Rios responded there were none). Likewise, to the extent Appellant is complaining on appeal about the initial questions the solicitor asked of Appellant after presenting him with a physical copy of the text messages, such an issue is similarly unpreserved for appellate review because defense counsel's objections to those questions were **sustained** during trial and no further relief was sought in regard to those questions. See Thompson, 304 S.C. at 87, 403 S.E.2d at 140 (holding Thompson failed to preserve any issue in regard to an objection that was sustained because he failed to make a motion to strike, request a curative strike, or move for a new trial after the objection was sustained); see also State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) ("Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide."). Accordingly, Appellant failed to preserve any issue for appellate review in regard to the solicitor's questioning of him about the text messages he purportedly sent to Victim's family members. See TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 617, 503 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1998) ("An issue conceded in a lower court may not be argued on appeal."); McMillan, 319 S.C. at 335, 461 S.E.2d at 45 (finding an issue to be procedurally barred on appeal because it was conceded at trial); see also State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court "cannot address unpreserved errors"). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

#### **B. Propriety of the Solicitor's Questioning of Appellant on Cross-Examination**

When a defendant elects to take the witness stand and testify on his own behalf during a criminal trial, the solicitor has a right to conduct cross-examination of that defendant. State v.

Holmes, 171 S.C. 8, \_\_\_, 171 S.E. 440, 443 (1933). As part of that cross-examination, the solicitor unquestionably is permitted to ask the defendant about any inculpatory or otherwise relevant statements he may have previously made that would be pertinent to the trial **so long as** the solicitor has a good faith factual basis for any questions asked. See Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE (instructing a party-opponent's own statements do **not** constitute inadmissible hearsay); see State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 147, 731 S.E.2d 604, 615 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[O]ur courts have held that a cross-examiner must have a good faith factual basis before questioning a witness about his or her past conduct.”); see also State v. Gilchrist, 342 S.C. 369, 372-373, n. 3, 536 S.E.2d 868, 869-870 (2000) (finding Gilchrist's incriminating statement was admissible as an admission by a party-opponent). Thus, while a solicitor is **not** permitted to merely “go on a fishing expedition” when cross-examining a defendant, the solicitor can question the defendant about matter relevant to the trial when the solicitor has a good faith basis for doing so. See State v. Joseph, 328 S.C. 352, 359, 491 S.E.2d 275, 278 (Ct. App. 1997) (“The cross-examiner must have a good faith factual basis before questioning a witness about his past conduct.”); see also State v. McGuire, 272 S.C. 547, 550, 253 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1979) (“Counsel should not be permitted to go on a fishing expedition in hopes of finding some misconduct involving moral turpitude by a witness.”).

In Appellant's case, Sister testified during trial in regard to text messages she had previously received from Appellant, and she noted she had communicated with him through both text messages and phone calls. See generally State v. Henry, 292 Neb. 834, 868-869, 875 N.W.2d 374, 400 (Neb. 2016) (finding a sufficient foundation had been established for the admission of a **physical copy** of text messages purportedly sent by Henry based on the testimony of witnesses who indicated they spoke with Henry at the phone number used to send the text

messages and knew Henry was the sender based on the context of the messages and further noting a party seeking to admit text messages is **not** required to conclusively prove who authored the messages before they can be admitted into evidence). Sister further indicated she provided the prosecution just before trial with a copy of text messages that were purportedly sent by Appellant. In light of Sister's testimony about the inculpatory text messages she had received from Appellant in regard to Victim and her provision of a copy of the text messages she contended were sent by Appellant to the prosecution, the solicitor had a good faith basis for asking Appellant whether he sent the incriminating text messages attributed to him.<sup>10</sup> See McEachern, 399 S.C. at 147, 731 S.E.2d at 615 (recognizing a good faith factual basis is necessary to ask a particular question on cross-examination); see also State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 160, 508 S.E.2d 857, 865 (1998) (holding testimony in regard to incriminating statements made by Needs was admissible as evidence of an admission by a party-opponent). Thus, just as defense counsel repeatedly conceded during trial, the solicitor was permitted to question Appellant about the text messages, and the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by permitting the solicitor to do so.<sup>11</sup> See State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 174, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596

---

<sup>10</sup> Notably, depending on Appellant's responses to her questions, the solicitor's questioning of Appellant also could have aided the solicitor in establishing a foundation for the admission of the physical copy of the text messages had she subsequently chosen to seek the admission of that matter into evidence during trial. See Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE (recognizing the requirements for authentication can be satisfied in numerous ways, including through the presentation of the testimony of a witness with knowledge the matter is what it is purported to be); see also Winburn v. Minnesota Mut. Life Ins. Co., 261 S.C. 568, 576-577, 201 S.E.2d 372, 376 (1973) (instructing direct proof is **not** required in order to authenticate a particular piece of evidence, and, instead, evidence can be authenticated through indirect or circumstantial evidence).

<sup>11</sup> Moreover, as Appellant denied sending any of the text messages the solicitor asked him about, Appellant suffered no actual prejudice as a result of the solicitor's questioning in that regard. Cf. McEachern, 399 S.C. at 148, 731 S.E.2d at 616 ("[W]e note that the mere asking of an improper question is not necessarily prejudicial, where no evidence is introduced as a result. Here, Hollie denied even knowing Warren or Gibbs, and denied 'being involved' with any of the three men. Thus, we find any error in allowing these questions was harmless." (citation omitted)). Likewise, the trial judge's instructions to the jurors cautioning them the statements of counsel were not evidence and instructing them evidence consisted only of witness testimony and exhibits helped to ensure Appellant suffered no prejudice from the solicitor's act of asking the questions regarding the text messages. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n. 1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) ("The jury was instructed to determine petitioner's guilt based only on the evidence presented in the trial. A jury is presumed to follow instructions. Therefore, without some showing the

(1991) (“It is well settled that the scope of cross-examination is within the trial judge’s discretion, and this Court will not interfere absent a showing of prejudice by the complaining party.”); see also State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 130, 644 S.E.2d 693, 698 (2007) (recognizing the trial judge retains wide discretion in regard to the scope of cross-examination). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.<sup>12</sup>

---

jurors disregarded those instructions, this Court declines to presume prejudice.” (citations omitted)); State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1999) (“An instruction to disregard incompetent evidence is usually deemed to have cured the error. Moreover, jurors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them.” (citations omitted)); cf. State v. Arther, 290 S.C. 291, 295, 350 S.E.2d 187, 189 (1986) (“The trial judge did charge the jury not to consider anything heard outside the courtroom. This charge was adequate under the circumstances to ensure the jury would render a verdict based upon the evidence presented.”).

<sup>12</sup> In seeking a reversal of his convictions on appeal, Appellant contends this Court should consider a number of unpreserved errors that allegedly occurred during trial when determining whether any preserved error that occurred in his case was harmless. Notably though, Appellant’s proposed harmless error analysis is entirely inconsistent with the established law in South Carolina. See State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 863 (1993) (instructing any error in the admission of evidence that is merely cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless); State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 82, 591 S.E.2d 632, 636 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding any error resulting from the publication of a prior statement would have been harmless where its publication was merely cumulative to a previous, unchallenged publication of the relevant portions of the same statement); see also State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (“[T]he plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts.”); State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 496, 492 S.E.2d 408, 411 (Ct. App. 1997) (“South Carolina has no ‘plain error’ rule.”); State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (recognizing unchallenged rulings are the law of the case regardless of whether they are right or wrong).

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.